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	Dr. Bernadette McGuire-Rivera
Broadband Technology Opportunities Program
U.S. Department of Commerce
Room 4812
1401 Constitution Avenue, NW
Washington, DC  20230

	April 13, 2009

	RE: Response to Request for Information – 090309298-9299-01


Dear Dr. McGuire-Rivera:

On behalf of our entire team at Ernst & Young, we thank you for the opportunity to respond to the joint Request for Information (“RFI”) by the National Telecommunications and Information Administration and the Rural Utilities Service.  Ernst & Young welcomes this opportunity to advise NTIA and RUS on the American Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 2009 Broadband Initiatives.  As you know and have documented in numerous public hearings, broadband deployment is high cost, high risk, and challenging to execute.  Constraints imposed on the NTIA / RUS process compound these challenges.  As the RFI itself notes, “For a number of years, RUS has struggled to find an effective way to use the Agency’s current broadband loan program.” Our response to this RFI addresses those specific questions raised where we have relevant input.  In general, we have observed that the issues can be summarized as follows:
· Competing statutory priorities:  speed, stimulus, coverage, social policy, and neutrality

· Process transparency:  definition of terms, tender process, selection criteria, and application processing resources

· Applicant performance:  Financial viability, timely completion, competition, and compliance audit

To navigate this process, we believe NTIA and RUS require assistance from an adviser that can help manage the complexity of this program, including experience with program management, project due diligence and compliance audit.  Ernst & Young has extensive experience executing these types of programs for both federal and commercial clients, providing support to allow NTIA and RUS to make informed decisions through three basic work-streams:

· Project administration:  project definition, development of monitoring and reporting tools, and project management office (“PMO”)
· Grant diligence:  initial suitability screening against published criteria, and financial and commercial due diligence on qualifying applicants, including assessment of business models
· Post-award audit:  2-year evaluation of progress vs. commitments and financial viability through quarterly reporting and periodic audit
Thank you again for allowing us to provide this response.   We look forward to the opportunity to work with you.  If you should have any questions about the information we have presented, please do not hesitate to contact Steve Krouskos at +1 404 817 5090 or by e-mail at steve.krouskos@ey.com, or Gaeron McClure, Transaction Advisory Services Telecommunications Sector Leader, at +1 201 872 1460 or by e-mail at gaeron.mcclure@ey.com. 
Sincerely,
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Privacy of proposal content

No part of this document may be reproduced by any means, nor transmitted, nor translated into a machine language without permission of Ernst & Young.  This information is considered privileged and confidential and its release would offer substantial benefit to competitors offering similar services.  The material incorporated includes:

· Descriptions of methodologies and concepts derived through substantial research and development efforts that were privately subsidized.

· Descriptions of the organization and staff resources of the firm that are made available, as privileged information, only to our clients.

· Information on clients of the firm that would be of benefit to competitors and potential harm to clients.

· Information on the competitive pricing strategies of the firm, otherwise protected and undisclosed.

Therefore, it is the position of Ernst & Young that use of, or release of, the information contained in this response, for purposes other than evaluation of its content as a basis for contract award, is prohibited and the materials herein are not considered subject to release under the Freedom of Information Act.
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Response to NTIA 1
1. The Purposes of the Grant Program: Section 6001 of the Recovery Act establishes five purposes for the BTOP grant program.

a. Should a certain percentage of grant funds be apportioned to each category?
b. Should applicants be encouraged to address more than one purpose?
c. How should the BTOP leverage or respond to the other broadband-related portions of the Recovery Act, including the United States Department of Agriculture (USDA) grants and loans program as well as the portions of the Recovery Act that address smart grids, health information technology, education, and transportation infrastructure? 
Ernst & Young (“EY”) has experience in developing a geographic next generation access network (“NGA”) model for a major European incumbent’s roll-out schedule.  That experience suggests that a fully-quantified, holistic analysis is necessary to achieve optimal decisions.  To be clear – bottom-up considerations must be taken into account to fully assess the complexity of individual projects, but a long-term focus on all relevant program goals must be methodically incorporated into overall decision-making.  Total funding is relatively limited; the entire $7.2 billion allocated to broadband under the Recovery Act represents only 16% of the 2008 capital spending of the five largest U.S. telcos
.  Therefore, it is imperative that funds be used as efficiently as possible.  We recommend:

· NTIA and RUS jointly determine as soon as practicable how much funding shall be apportioned to (i) each category and (ii) each state.  A crude allocation of funds to each of the five objectives (e.g. 20% each) is likely to result in a suboptimal use of funds.  Instead, NTIA and RUS should as quickly as practicable develop a reasoned analysis (ideally available for public comment) of the public benefit of each initiative, which would dictate the relative allocation of funding.  In the private sector this analysis would be much easier, as an operator would simply look to which solutions maximize net present value (“NPV”).  However, some qualitative measure of “utility” should be determinable, and application of such a measure should enhance the fairness of the allocation.

· The criteria developed should be explicit, objective and public.  Ideally, criteria should be sufficiently detailed to make the selection process fully transparent.  In applying the criteria, we believe it is important to consider the collective statutory goals of both the NTIA’s Broadband Technology Opportunities Program (“BTOP”) and the RUS’ broadband mandate.
· Applications addressing more than one purpose under the NTIA and/or RUS should be prioritized to the extent they allow more efficient use of overall funding (that is, achieving greater “utility” with a given amount of funding).  However, an entity’s experience and business plan as it applies to its ability to meet more than one objective should be a consideration in distributing funds;
· NTIA and RUS should focus on the most effective use of funds to comply with their statutory mandate under the Recovery Act.  In addition, they should emphasize transparency in the decision-making process, with application and selection criteria clearly specified.  Therefore, it seems appropriate that applications addressing other portions of the Recovery Act be prioritized only if a mechanism exists to spread funding across the funding agencies responsible for those portions.  If NTIA/ RUS give priority to projects that meet other objectives in the Recovery Act outside the broadband mandate, there are risks that (i) appropriated funds are used for other purposes and therefore are not used as effectively as possible to fulfill the statutory broadband mandate, and (ii) the application and selection process is not transparent if criteria from other sections of the Recovery Act are incorporated.

Response to NTIA 2
2. The Role of the States: The Recovery Act states that NTIA may consult the States (including the District of Columbia, territories, and possessions) with respect to various aspects of the BTOP.  The Recovery Act also requires that, to the extent practical, the BTOP award at least one grant to every State.

a. How should the grant program consider State priorities in awarding grants? 

b. What is the appropriate role for States in selecting projects for funding? 

c. How should NTIA resolve differences among groups or constituencies within a State in establishing priorities for funding? 

d. How should NTIA ensure that projects proposed by States are well executed and produce worthwhile and measurable results? 

The States have a much more granular view of regional requirements than federal authorities, and in some cases have already developed information regarding their broadband coverage.  We understand that a number of States have already identified underserved areas and some have provide broadband grants from state funds or state Universal Service Funds (“USF”).  States may have useful information on localized cost, pricing, and demographic data, although that information may also be available at the level of municipalities or other political subdivisions.
States may therefore provide a useful role in identifying valuable proposals, and we believe it is appropriate to consider state endorsement as a positive factor in an application.

However, a State screening process should not substitute for the judgment of the NTIA/RUS decision-making bodies.  Our experience with NGA roll-out models suggests that local information should be sought, but then aggregated:

· Local data can be aggregated at the regional level by network topology, which in some cases may be interstate,

· Enabling regionalized cost reduction, or build-out economies of scale

· Providing marketable geographic areas for NGA services

· Regional data should then be aggregated at the national level,

· Enabling a cohesive roll-out strategy and providing a control mechanism for senior decision-makers.

In general, State-specific data is useful, but will need to be processed through a common and agreed quantitative framework for fairness and transparency.

Ceding too strong a gating role to the States poses a number of risks, including:
· States may seek to maximize funding for their own regions, without giving consideration to whether those regions would benefit more from funding than regions in other States, which will jeopardize the national policy goals

· States are unlikely to apply uniform, transparent criteria in selecting applications, which will jeopardize transparency

· Reliance upon the States for initial screening could slow the process considerably.

Therefore, while State screening can provide a useful data point and State endorsement may appropriately weigh in a funding decision, we believe NTIA/RUS must perform its own due diligence on applications using explicit, objective, published criteria.  We recommend a two-stage screening process:

1. Initial screening eliminates applications that do not meet basic requirements for funding

· Criteria must be defined sufficiently objectively and explicitly to enable rapid initial screening

2. Substantially more intense secondary screening on qualifying applicants:

· Assess suitability against statutory criteria

· Assess coverage of prioritized agency goals determined in the process definition phase

· Financial due diligence to provide findings and observations on entity and project viability

Proposals received directly from States, municipalities, public utility commissions or other governmental divisions should be subject to the same selection criteria as those that are applied to public-private partnerships, nonprofits, and private for-profit entities.  These criteria should be explicit, objective and public.  See our response to NTIA 4 for additional discussion of the selection process.  State proposals should be clear as to their intended impact so that, like grants to any other entity, they can be subject to due diligence and post-award audit, which may provide a basis for future funding.
Response to NTIA 3

3. Eligible Grant Recipients: The Recovery Act establishes entities that are eligible for a grant under the program.  The Recovery Act requires NTIA to determine by rule whether it is in the public interest that entities other than those listed in Section 6001(e)(1)(A) and (B) should be eligible for grant awards.  What standard should NTIA apply to determine whether it is in the public interest that entities other than those described in Section 6001(e)(1)(A) and (B) should be eligible for grant awards? 

Considering the difficulties inherent in the NTIA/RUS statutory mandate, we believe an application by any entity that can meet the statutory requirements at the lowest cost and highest likelihood of success should be considered to be in the public interest.  While public-private partnerships are conceptually appealing, we note that for example the municipal Wi-Fi public-private undertakings have generally been unsuccessful
.  We believe that meeting statutory criteria, providing maximum coverage of agency goals, and demonstrating financial and technical feasibility should take precedence over the applicant’s organizational structure.
Response to NTIA 4

a. What factors should NTIA consider in establishing selection criteria for grant awards? How can NTIA determine that a Federal funding need exists and that private investment is not displaced? How should the long-term feasibility of the investment be judged? 

b. What should the weighting of these criteria be in determining consideration for grant and loan awards? 

c. How should the BTOP prioritize proposals that serve underserved or unserved areas? Should the BTOP consider USDA broadband grant awards and loans in establishing these priorities? 

d. Should priority be given to proposals that leverage other Recovery Act projects? 

e. Should priority be given to proposals that address several purposes, serve several of the populations identified in the Recovery Act, or provide service to different types of areas? 

f. What factors should be given priority in determining whether proposals will encourage sustainable adoption of broadband service? 

g. Should the fact that different technologies can provide different service characteristics, such as speed and use of dedicated or shared links, be considered given the statute’s direction that, to the extent practicable, the purposes of the statute should be promoted in a technologically neutral fashion? 

h. What role, if any, should retail price play in the grant program? 
The most important consideration for grant criteria is that they be explicit, objective, and public.  Ideally, criteria should be sufficiently detailed to make the selection process fully transparent.  The transparency consideration is particularly important given that the selection process does not appear to contemplate a public tender, which is the process that has been employed in the European Union (“EU”) for state-funded broadband deployments
 and is more commonly used in the United States.  If a multi-stage tender process with (i) project identification, (ii) project selection, (iii) proposal and (iv) bidder selection is not employed or is effectively consolidated into one step (grant submission against a very wide range of criteria as is currently contemplated), then explicit, objective, public definition of criteria becomes vital.  

Another consideration is whether NTIA / RUS have sufficient resources to formalize and apply the selection criteria to the anticipated volume of applications.  The funding agencies may wish to consider employment of an out-sourced program administration function that can:

· Assist in formalizing the definition of criteria and the mechanics of the selection process;

· Develop monitoring and reporting tools; and 
· Serve as a project management office (“PMO”)
In applying the criteria, we believe it is important to consider the collective statutory goals of both the NTIA’s BTOP and the RUS’ broadband mandate.  As noted in our response to NTIA 1, we believe it is appropriate to grant additional weight to proposals that would meet multiple goals under the NTIA / RUS mandate.  Overall broadband coverage, both through the NTIA and RUS programs, should be considered together as joint goals.  However, preference should be given to proposals serving other Recovery Act objectives only to the extent funding can be spread across other agencies.  Otherwise, NTIA / RUS risk diluting the effectiveness of their funding by using it outside their statutory mandate.
Due diligence on applicant business plans and financial health will be an important element in judging long-term feasibility and sustainability of the investment.  In this regard, the applicant’s pricing must be carefully balanced, as lower pricing provides a public benefit but may render the project unsustainable (which was the case with many municipal Wi-Fi projects, which were either cancelled, scaled back, or redesigned with a very different pricing structure than initially contemplated)
.  
Guidance from the EU may provide useful considerations in establishing criteria, as the European Commission adopted a “Broadband for all” policy in early 2006.
· “Deployment of broadband may be hampered by market failures in rural and remote areas.  In such cases, well-targeted state aid may therefore be appropriate, e.g. in the form of public private partnerships to support the construction of open networks.  But we have to make sure that state aid does not crowd out private initiative, nor distort competition to an extent contrary to the common interest.”

The EU identifies principles that should be applied by member states in developing broadband strategies, as follows:

· Supply-side

· Competition and convergence across alternate platforms through a consistent regulatory framework

· Role of public policy in extending coverage of under-served areas, with particular care neither to distort competition nor to inhibit private investment, and on a technology-neutral basis

· R&D for next generation broadband, cost reductions and innovative applications and services

· Demand-side

· Demand-aggregation policies to improve certainty for investors and increase use by public administrations, educational and healthcare establishments

· Developing broadband-enabled open and interoperable applications

· Overcome barriers to the development of innovative new content

· Role of security and trust
To some extent, EU member states seem to have finessed the issue of retail price by funding “middle mile” wholesale operations rather than retail operations:

· “The [Citynet Amsterdam] wholesale commercial operator of the new fibre network was selected through a tender process and provides open, non-discriminatory access to retail commercial operators that offer TV, broadband and telephony on the new fibre network.”

· “The main goal of the [Irish] Metropolitan Access Networks programme is to provide a communications infrastructure (ducts, fibre) and wholesale services to operators in towns outside Dublin to reduce the high fixed cost of building own infrastructure…. The MANs tackle a major bottleneck, the so-called “middle mile” between local loop and regional networks.”

Response to NTIA 5, 6 and 7

5. Grant Mechanics: The Recovery Act requires all agencies to distribute funds efficiently and fund projects that would not receive investment otherwise. 

a. What mechanisms for distributing stimulus funds should be used by NTIA and USDA in addition to traditional grant and loan programs? 

b. How would these mechanisms address shortcomings, if any, in traditional grant or loan mechanisms in the context of the Recovery Act? 

6. Grants for Expanding Public Computer Center Capacity: The Recovery Act directs that not less than $200,000,000 of the BTOP shall be awarded for grants that expand public computer center capacity, including at community colleges and public libraries. 

a. What selection criteria should be applied to ensure the success of this aspect of the program? 

b. What additional institutions other than community colleges and public libraries should be considered as eligible recipients under this program? 

7. Grants for Innovative Programs to Encourage Sustainable Adoption of Broadband Service: The Recovery Act directs that not less than $250,000,000 of the BTOP shall be awarded for grants for innovative programs to encourage sustainable adoption of broadband services. 

a. What selection criteria should be applied to ensure the success of this program? 

b. What measures should be used to determine whether such innovative programs have succeeded in creating sustainable adoption of broadband services? 
Determination of funding mechanisms and specification of selection criteria is a function that must ultimately reside with NTIA / RUS.  However, we repeat our recommendation from previous responses that transparency is vital in this process.  To the extent funding mechanisms other than traditional grants and loans are contemplated, they should be specified in as much detail as possible.  In addition, applicants should be made aware in advance of the application process, selection criteria, performance obligations, reporting obligations, and any other responsibilities associated with each funding mechanism.
While final determinations must be made by NTIA / RUS, we note the following considerations that NTIA / RUS should bear in mind:
· In determining grant, loan, loan guarantee or other mechanisms to be employed, the funding agencies should consider the degree of economic advantage conferred by the funds.  For example, RUS’ traditional low-interest loans may be assumed to confer less economic advantage than an outright grant.  NTIA / RUS may wish to consider certain EU guidance, specifically:

· A competitive tender process is presumed to lessen the risk of unfair economic advantage
; while a tender process does not appear to be contemplated here, maximum transparency can afford similar outcomes.
· The degree of intervention is less (and indeed is not considered state aid) if a “market economy investor principle” or “private investor principle” is applied.
  While we would not anticipate the contemplated funding would meet such a market test, we believe it is appropriate to favor mechanisms that most closely resemble the conditions under which a market participant would provide funds.
· As a corollary, it seems reasonable that mechanisms such as grants (with no repayment obligation) would carry greater constraints than loans (which require repayment and bear interest).

· In determining criteria for expanding computer center capacity and encouraging adoption of broadband services, we believe the key success factor is to explicitly enumerate the qualification criteria and metrics that will be used to measure success.  The qualification criteria and success metrics should be tied to each other – that is, a qualifying entity should be one that proposes to meet the targeted metrics, and success should be measured by progress against those same criteria.
Response to NTIA 8

8. Broadband Mapping: The Recovery Act directs NTIA to establish a comprehensive nationwide inventory map of existing broadband service capability and availability in the United States that depicts the geographic extent to which broadband service capability is deployed and available from a commercial provider or public provider throughout each State. 

a. What uses should such a map be capable of serving? 

b. What specific information should the broadband map contain, and should the map provide different types of information to different users (e.g., consumers versus governmental entities)? 

c. At what level of geographic or other granularity should the broadband map provide information on broadband service? 

d. What other factors should NTIA take into consideration in fulfilling the requirements of the Broadband Data Improvement Act, Public Law 110–385 (2008)? 

e. Are there State or other mapping programs that provide models for the statewide inventory grants? 

f. Specifically what information should states collect as conditions of receiving statewide inventory grants? 

g. What technical specifications should be required of State grantees to ensure that statewide inventory maps can be efficiently rolled up into a searchable national broadband database to be made available on NTIA’s Web site no later than February 2011? 

h. Should other conditions attach to statewide inventory grants? 

i. What information, other than statewide inventory information, should populate the comprehensive nationwide map?
j. The Recovery Act and the Broadband Data Improvement Act (BDIA) imposes duties on both NTIA and FCC concerning the collection of broadband data. Given the statutory requirements of the Recovery Act and the BDIA, how should NTIA and FCC best work together to meet these requirements?  

As noted in our response to NTIA 2, the most appropriate role of the states is in identifying regional needs, which can then be aggregated and considered from a national policy perspective.  Therefore, the fundamental purpose of the State inventories should be (i) to provide inputs to guide the NTIA / RUS application process and (ii) to assess the post-award effectiveness of the grants and loans.  We understand certain States have mapping available or in process, and responses from these States may be highly instructive.  In general, we believe that the key elements of the map should include, on the basis of both geography and population, at the most granular level available:
· Broadband coverage

· Broadband penetration

· Technologies in use in providing service

· Speed of service provided

· Average cost of service

· Demographic information (e.g. average income level)

Similar to our views on NTIA / RUS coordination, we believe that NTIA and RUS should coordinate as fully as possible with the FCC to meet their common statutory goal of fully extending broadband access throughout the United States.  We therefore believe that common definitions regarding the data elements to be collected should be established up front, and a PMO should be established to provide liaison activities among the NTIA, RUS and FCC to ensure non-duplication of efforts and complete coverage of agency priorities.

Response to NTIA 9

9. Financial Contributions by Grant Applicants: The Recovery Act requires that the Federal share of funding for any proposal may not exceed 80 percent of the total grant. The Recovery Act also requires that applicants demonstrate that their proposals would not have been implemented during the grant period without Federal assistance. The Recovery Act allows for an increase in the Federal share beyond 80 percent if the applicant petitions NTIA and demonstrates financial need. 

a. What factors should an applicant show to establish the ‘‘financial need’’ necessary to receive more than 80 percent of a project’s cost in grant funds? 

b. What factors should the NTIA apply in deciding that a particular proposal should receive less than an 80 percent Federal share?

c. What showing should be necessary to demonstrate that the proposal would not have been implemented without Federal assistance? 
Determination of funding mechanisms and specification of selection criteria is a function that must ultimately reside with NTIA / RUS.    However, we repeat our recommendation from previous responses that transparency is vital in this process.  Criteria that will result in funding above or below the 80% level should be specified as soon as possible in as much detail as possible.

With regard to demonstration that a proposal would not have been implemented without federal assistance, the most objective criterion is simply that the proposal has not yet been implemented.  In general, rural or unserved/underserved areas do not present compelling market dynamics for entrance.  “Network industries are typically characterized by high fixed costs.  As a result, it is generally more profitable to roll out broadband networks where potential demand is higher and more concentrated.  Therefore, in certain areas, operators may have no commercial incentive to invest in broadband services.”

The risk inherent in this approach is that public funding crowds out a private initiative that was contemplated but not yet deployed, or deployed but not yet mature.  The lack of a formal tender process exacerbates this risk, as in a public tender for a given geography, a competitor that was already contemplating entry would be at an advantage.  Therefore, some level of commercial due diligence is appropriate prior to award, to survey the population proposed to be served and determine whether they are aware of other, viable alternatives that are already available or in process.
NTIA / RUS may also wish to have applicants submit a “base case” quantitative business case absent funding, to be compared to the budget presented for funding.  The base case could then also be subject to due diligence.  If NTIA / RUS believe that a base case would be a useful data element, this requirement should be made explicit.
Response to NTIA 10

10. Timely Completion of Proposals: The Recovery Act states that NTIA shall establish the BTOP as expeditiously as practicable, ensure that all awards are made before the end of fiscal year 2010, and seek assurances from grantees that projects supported by the programs will be substantially completed within two (2) years following an award. The Recovery Act also requires that grant recipients report quarterly on the recipient’s use of grant funds and the grant recipient’s progress in fulfilling the objectives of the grant proposal. The Recovery Act permits NTIA to deobligate awards to grant recipients that demonstrate an insufficient level of performance, or wasteful or fraudulent spending (as defined by NTIA in advance), and award these funds to new or existing applicants.

a. What is the most efficient, effective, and fair way to carry out the requirement that the BTOP be established expeditiously and that awards be made before the end of fiscal year 2010? 

b. What elements should be included in the application to ensure the projects can be completed within two (2) years (e.g., timelines, milestones, letters of agreement with partners)? 
As noted in previous responses, this process will be extremely challenging.  Establishing as much rigor as possible in defining criteria, selection and monitoring will help expedite the process.  We believe NTIA / RUS can benefit from bringing in qualified, out-sourced assistance around:

· Project administration:  project definition, development of monitoring and reporting tools, and project management office (“PMO”)

· Grant diligence:  initial suitability screening against public criteria, and financial and commercial due diligence on qualifying applicants, including assessment of business models
· Post-award audit:  2-year evaluation of progress vs. commitments and financial viability through quarterly reporting and periodic audit
Even with all available resources deployed, the challenges are formidable.  The 2009 Ernst & Young business risk report for the telecommunications sector identifies five risks that are directly relevant to this program:

· Inaccuracy in forecasting returns from technology and infrastructure investments

· Failure to generate sustainable cash flows from new business models

· Inappropriate process and systems to support new business strategies

· Poorly-managed strategic partnerships

· Inability to contain and reduce costs
Applicants should be required to supply detailed operational and financial plans that can be subject to rigorous due diligence.  Operational and financial data should be provided on a quarterly basis for the entire contemplated build-out period.  Business models should reflect the four pillars of network investment (revenue, capital expenditure, operating expenditure, and real estate requirements), and should be built from bottom-up principles, reflecting:

· Geographic factors such as local densities, geotypes, and network architecture
· Investment elements such as fiber rings, wireless infrastructure, DSLAMs, etc.

· Proposed geographic and population coverage, including maps
· Existing connections and services in the localities to be served
· Competitive presence, if any

· Explicit modeling of each service offered

· Anticipated customer numbers and pricing, with well-documented, defensible assumptions around growth, churn, average revenue per user (“ARPU”), and service migration

· Major operating cost elements including headcount, inter-carrier costs, rent, utilities, etc.

· Discounted cash flow analysis

EY’s previous NGA work has incorporated a monitoring and control framework to assess performance and delivery criteria through deployment and identify and implement remedial action.  NTIA / RUS should establish a formal framework, supported by tracking mechanisms and internal databases.
Response to NTIA 11

11. Reporting and Deobligation: The Recovery Act also requires that grant recipients report quarterly on the recipient’s use of grant funds and progress in fulfilling the objectives of the grant proposal.  The Recovery Act permits NTIA to de-obligate funds for grant awards that demonstrate an insufficient level of performance, or wasteful or fraudulent spending (as defined by NTIA in advance), and award these funds to new or existing applicants. 

a. How should NTIA define wasteful or fraudulent spending for purposes of the grant program? 

b. How should NTIA determine that performance is at an ‘‘insufficient level?’’ 

c. If such spending is detected, what actions should NTIA take to ensure effective use of investments made and remaining funding? 

As noted above in our response to NTIA 10, applicants should be required to provide detailed business plans which will be subject to diligence, and which can then form the “budget” element for a “budget-to-actual” analysis.  The budget-to-actual analysis should be rigorous, and its terms should be defined prior to awards.  Generally speaking, NTIA / RUS should take the perspective of an outside investor and should require the forms of reporting that such an investor would require.  This reporting would generally include:

· Quarterly financial statements, with agency-funded operations carved out for separate analysis

· Quarterly budget-to-actual analysis, with explanations for all variances against projections
· Quarterly report of operational progress against goals (e.g. coverage density achieved, physical infrastructure benchmarks, penetration goals, research & development milestones, as appropriate)

All reporting should be subject to audit on a judgmental basis as determined by NTIA / RUS.  In general, we recommend annual audits of the information provided above, but NTIA / RUS should reserve the right to audit at its discretion if it suspects wasteful or fraudulent spending, insufficient progress towards defined goals, or misreporting of financial or operational data.  In our experience management and monitoring against operational as well as financial metrics is critical in measuring delivery performance – therefore, audits should not be limited to financial data but should also encompass operational measures such as lines deployed, cabinets activated, R&D milestones, equipment vendor commitments, etc.
Compliance requirements should be standardized, made explicit prior to award, and set for each award in a manner similar to commercial debt covenants.  Similar to such commercial covenants, violation should result in the entire loan amount becoming immediately callable, unless the debtor can demonstrate the appropriateness of a waiver for a specified period of time.  Loans should be secured by the assets to be deployed so NTIA / RUS would have the ability to take possession of the assets and redeploy them if necessary.
NTIA / RUS should consider whether grants should be subject to “claw-back” on similar terms, or whether grants should be phased over time based on the grantee’s budget such that non-compliance results in suspension or cancellation of the remaining grant amounts.

Response to NTIA 12

12. Coordination with USDA’s Broadband Grant Program: The Recovery Act directs USDA’s Rural Development Office to distribute $2.5 billion dollars in loans, loan guarantees, and grants for broadband deployment. The stated focus of the USDA’s program is economic development in rural areas. NTIA has broad authority in its grant program to award grants throughout the United States. Although the two programs have different statutory structures, the programs have many similar purposes, namely the promotion of economic development based on deployment of broadband service and technologies. 

a. What specific programmatic elements should both agencies adopt to ensure that grant funds are utilized in the most effective and efficient manner? 

b. In cases where proposals encompass both rural and non-rural areas, what programmatic elements should the agencies establish to ensure that worthy projects are funded by one or both programs in the most cost effective manner without unjustly enriching the applicant(s)? 

To the fullest extent possible, we believe NTIA / RUS should coordinate their funding activities to meet their common statutory goal of fully extending broadband access throughout the United States.  We therefore believe that common definitions should be established up front, and a PMO should be established to provide liaison activities between NTIA and RUS to ensure non-duplication of efforts and complete coverage of agency priorities.
Ideally, NTIA / RUS should jointly consider the following:

· Full cash flow analysis of the entire $7.2 billion in available funding, including timing of disbursements and recovery of loans

· Full roll-out timeline

· Coverage of all areas included in the joint statutory mandate, including rural, unserved and underserved concepts

· Opportunity cost of all decisions considered

· To the extent sufficient data is provided, multiple roll-out scenarios for each geography and statutory mandate
· Roll-out groupings that can leverage multiple proposals and interstate activities for optimal network architecture

· Capital expenditures, operational expenditures and revenues of each statutory element

· For example, proposals that are believed to be self-funding may be more appropriately funded through loans, whereas other proposals may require a continuous level of public commitment and may be more appropriately funded through grants;

· In the latter case, the proposals should include a view as to the funding mechanism that will replace the federal grant when those funds are exhausted

· Specific characteristics of each funding geography

· Each locality will have its own revenue potential and degree of existing and potential competition

· Local characteristics should be considered to mitigate risks of both unjust enrichment and interference with private market dynamics

Response to NTIA 13

13. Definitions: The Conference Report on the Recovery Act states that NTIA should consult with the FCC on defining the terms ‘‘unserved area,’’ ‘‘underserved area,’’ and ‘‘broadband.’’ The Recovery Act also requires that NTIA shall, in coordination with the FCC, publish nondiscrimination and network interconnection obligations that shall be contractual conditions of grant awards, including, at a minimum, adherence to the principles contained in the FCC’s broadband policy statement (FCC 05–15, adopted August 5, 2005).

a. For purposes of the BTOP, how should NTIA, in consultation with the FCC, define the terms ‘‘unserved area’’ and ‘‘underserved area?’’ 

b. How should the BTOP define ‘‘broadband service?’’ 

(1) Should the BTOP establish threshold transmission speeds for purposes of analyzing whether an area is ‘‘unserved’’ or ‘‘underserved’’ and prioritizing grant awards? Should thresholds be rigid or flexible? 

(2) Should the BTOP establish different threshold speeds for different technology platforms? 

(3) What should any such threshold speed(s) be, and how should they be measured and evaluated (e.g., advertised speed, average speed, typical speed, maximum speed)? 

(4) Should the threshold speeds be symmetrical or asymmetrical? 

(5) How should the BTOP consider the impacts of the use of shared facilities by service providers and of network congestion? 

c. How should the BTOP define the nondiscrimination and network interconnection obligations that will be contractual conditions of grants awarded under Section 6001? 

(1) In defining nondiscrimination obligations, what elements of network management techniques to be used by grantees, if any, should be described and permitted as a condition of any grant? 

(2) Should the network interconnection obligation be based on existing statutory schemes? If not, what should the interconnection obligation be? 

(3) Should there be different nondiscrimination and network interconnection standards for different technology platforms? 

(4) Should failure to abide by whatever obligations are established result in de-obligation of fund awards? 

(5) In the case of infrastructure paid for in whole or part by grant funds, should the obligations extend beyond the life of the grant and attach for the useable life of the infrastructure? 

d. Are there other terms in this section of the Recovery Act, such as ‘‘community anchor institutions,’’ that NTIA should define to ensure the success of the grant program? If so, what are those terms and how should those terms be defined, given the stated purposes of the Recovery Act? 

e. What role, if any, should retail price play in these definitions? 
Determination of specific definitions is a function that must ultimately reside with NTIA / RUS.  However, we repeat our recommendation from previous responses that transparency is vital in this process.  Criteria levels should be specified as soon as possible in as much detail as possible.

It is worth noting that the EU does not precisely define “broadband” in its “broadband for all” policy, instead merely specifying that it is “’always on’ and significantly faster than dial-up.”
  Further reading of the EU’s policy FAQ suggests that while the term “broadband” is loosely defined, the Commission has identified a number of studies applying econometric analysis to suggest that broadband deployment is beneficial to economic growth.  As such, precise definitions of “what it is” and “how fast it needs to be” may not be essential to the question of promoting economic development
.  While transparency requires setting a definition with a threshold, EU research suggests it may be appropriate to set the threshold at a sufficiently low level that potentially promising and effective technologies are not disqualified because they fail to meet an arbitrary speed limit.
With regard to non-discrimination requirements, we believe NTIA / RUS should look to the FCC’s existing non-discrimination guidance in FCC 05-15, which states that consumers are entitled to:

· Access lawful internet content of their choice

· Run applications and use services of their choice

· Connect their choice of legal devices that do not harm the network

· Competition among network providers, application and service providers, and content providers

The EU has also addressed non-discrimination issues, citing the aims of “stimulating competition and innovation while increasing consumers’ choice.”
  As noted in our response to NTIA 4, the Amsterdam and Ireland broadband deployments addressed the issue by funding wholesale providers with open access requirements.

However, we caution NTIA / RUS against extending non-discrimination or open access requirements beyond FCC guidance.  The cost of deploying a broadband network is considerable, and the time horizon for recovery is long.  As a result, the business case may be marginal, even with federal support.  Imposing excessive open access requirements that would give competitors access to the award recipient’s network on non-commercial terms could provide a significant disincentive to investment.  Conversely, subsidizing a retail provider based on open access commitments could substantially distort competition, particularly to the extent competitors already exist in the relevant geography.  Likewise, we believe that any non-discrimination requirements should be technology-neutral, or the requirements themselves become discriminatory.
As in all of our responses, we strongly recommend that NTIA / RUS provide as much clarity around their conclusions as quickly as possible, with the greatest practicable degree of specificity.  If certain non-discrimination requirements are to be used as selection criteria and/or grounds for de-obligation of awards (which would seem to be legitimate considerations), applicants must be made aware of these rules before filing their applications.

Response to NTIA 14

14. Measuring the Success of the BTOP: The Recovery Act permits NTIA to establish additional reporting and information requirements for any recipient of grant program funds. 

a. What measurements can be used to determine whether an individual proposal has successfully complied with the statutory obligations and project timelines? 

b. Should applicants be required to report on a set of common data elements so that the relative success of individual proposals may be measured? If so, what should those elements be? 
Our recommendations with regard to this issue mirror those for other issues.  Specifically, we believe that as much clarity and transparency must be established up front as possible.  Applications should then be subject to a rigorous, well-defined due diligence process. Finally, award recipients should file quarterly reports and be subject to audit requirements.  In summary, the key elements for successful implementation are:

· Project administration:  

· Rigorous, systematic definition and communication of application, selection and compliance criteria

· Development of monitoring and reporting tools
· Formal project management office (“PMO”)

· Grant diligence:  
· Initial suitability screening against published criteria
· Second level due diligence on qualifying applications:

· Financial 
· Operational

· Commercial
· Business model

· Post-award audit for financial viability and progress towards defined criteria :  
· Quarterly reporting by all award recipients:

· Quarterly financial statements

· Quarterly budget-to-actual analysis
· Quarterly report of operational progress against goals 

· Annual and ad-hoc audit of reported results
· Annual audits at award recipient’s expense

· Ad hoc audits at NTIA / RUS expense
Response to NTIA 15

15. Please provide comment on any other issues that NTIA should consider in creating BTOP within the confines of the statutory structure established by the Recovery Act. 
Questions 1 – 14 provided sufficient opportunity for us to express our perspectives and recommendations.

Response to RUS 1 and 2
1. What are the most effective ways RUS could offer broadband funds to ensure that rural residents that lack access to broadband will receive it? For a number of years, RUS has struggled to find an effective way to use the Agency’s current broadband loan program to provide broadband access to rural residents that lack such access. RUS believes that the authority to provide grants as well as loans will give it the tools necessary to achieve that goal. RUS is looking for suggestions as to the best ways to: 

a. Bundle loan and grant funding options to ensure such access is provided in the projects funded under the Recovery Act to areas that could not traditionally afford the investment; 

b. Promote leveraging of Recovery Act funding with private investment that ensures project viability and future sustainability; and 

c. Ensure that Recovery Funding is targeted to unserved areas that stand to benefit the most from this funding opportunity. 
2. In what ways can RUS and NTIA best align their Recovery Act broadband activities to make the most efficient and effective use of the Recovery Act broadband funds? In the Recovery Act, Congress provided funding and authorities to both RUS and the NTIA to expand the development of broadband throughout the country. Taking into account the authorities and limitations provided in the Recovery Act, RUS is looking for suggestions as to how both agencies can conduct their Recovery Act broadband activities so as to foster effective broadband development. For instance: 

(a) RUS is charged with ensuring that 75 percent of the area is rural and without sufficient access needed for economic development. How should this definition be reconciled with the NTIA definitions of ‘‘unserved’’ and ‘‘underserved?’’ 

(b) How should the agencies structure their eligibility requirements and other programmatic elements to ensure that applicants that desire to seek funding from both agencies (i) do not receive duplicate resources and (ii) are not hampered in their ability to apply for funds from both agencies? 

As noted in our responses to the NTIA requests above, our experience indicates that a fully-quantified, holistic analysis is necessary to achieve optimal decisions.  Since total funding is relatively limited compared to the magnitude of the mandate, funds must be used as efficiently as possible.  We therefore recommend:
· To the fullest extent possible, we believe NTIA and RUS should coordinate their funding activities to meet their common statutory goal of fully extending broadband access throughout the United States.  We therefore believe that common definitions should be established up front, and a PMO should be established to provide liaison activities between NTIA and RUS to ensure non-duplication of efforts and complete coverage of agency priorities.

· Due diligence should be conducted on applicant business plans and financial health to help assess long-term viability and sustainability of the investment.  

Bottom-up considerations (by geography, service offering, etc.) must be taken into account to fully assess the complexity of individual projects, but a long-term focus on all relevant program goals must be methodically incorporated into overall decision-making.
Response to RUS 3

3. How should RUS evaluate whether a particular level of broadband access and service is needed to facilitate economic development? Seventy-five percent of an area to be funded under the Recovery Act must be in an area that USDA determines lacks sufficient ‘‘high speed broadband service to facilitate rural economic development.’’ RUS is seeking suggestions as to the factors it should use to make such determinations. 

(a) How should RUS define ‘‘rural economic development?’’ What factors should be considered, in terms of job growth, sustainability, and other economic and socio-economic benefits? 

(b) What speeds are needed to facilitate ‘‘economic development?’’ What does ‘‘high speed broadband service’’ mean? 

(c) What factors should be considered, when creating economic development incentives, in constructing facilities in areas outside the seventy-five percent area that is rural (i.e., within an area that is less than 25 percent rural)? 
Determination of specific definitions is a function that must ultimately reside with NTIA / RUS.  However, we repeat our recommendation from NTIA responses that transparency is vital in this process.  Criteria levels should be specified as soon as possible in as much detail as possible.

As noted in our response to NTIA 13, the EU does not precisely define “broadband” in its “broadband for all” policy, instead merely specifying that it is “’always on’ and significantly faster than dial-up.”
  Further reading of the EU’s policy FAQ suggests that while the term “broadband” is loosely defined, the Commission has identified a number of studies applying econometric analysis to suggest that broadband deployment is beneficial to economic growth.  As such, precise definitions of “what it is” and “how fast it needs to be” may not be essential to the question of promoting economic development.  While transparency requires setting a definition with a threshold, EU research suggests it may be appropriate to set the threshold at a sufficiently low level that potentially promising and effective technologies are not disqualified because they fail to meet an arbitrary speed limit.
For non-rural areas, we reiterate our recommendation that RUS coordinate to the fullest extent possible with NTIA to best achieve the agencies’ mutual coverage goals.

Response to RUS 4 and 5

4. In further evaluating projects, RUS must consider the priorities listed below. What value should be assigned to those factors in selecting applications? What additional priorities should be considered by RUS? Priorities have been assigned to projects that will: (1) Give end-users a choice of Internet service providers, (2) serve the highest proportion of rural residents that lack access to broadband service, (3) be projects of current and former RUS borrowers, and (4) be fully funded and ready to start once they receive funding under the Recovery Act. 

5. What benchmarks should RUS use to determine the success of its Recovery Act broadband activities? The Recovery Act gives RUS new tools to expand the availability of broadband in rural America. RUS is seeking suggestions regarding how it can measure the effectiveness of its funding programs under the Recovery Act. Factors to consider include, but are not limited to: 

a. Businesses and residences with ‘‘first-time’’ access. 

b. Critical facilities provided new and/or improved service: i. Educational institutions. ii. Healthcare providers. iii. Public service/safety. 

c. Businesses created or saved. 

d. Job retention and/or creation. 

e. Decline in unemployment rates. 

f. State, local, community support. 
Determination of priorities within the statutory framework is a function that must ultimately reside with NTIA / RUS.  However, we repeat our recommendation from NTIA responses that transparency is vital in this process.  Criteria levels should be specified as soon as possible in as much detail as possible.

RUS may also wish to look to responses to NTIA 1 in terms of selection criteria.  Given our recommendation of close coordination with NTIA, it seems reasonable that statutory priorities that are common to RUS and NTIA be assigned a relatively high value.

With respect to measurement, the criteria are most appropriately defined by NTIA / RUS in accordance with the statutory language.  Once measurement criteria are determined, however, NTIA and RUS should move as expeditiously as possible to:

· Design a tracking mechanism such as an electronic database to capture relevant metrics

· Design quarterly reports that will be filed by recipients of awards to assist in tracking progress towards statutory goals

Background on Ernst & Young
Ernst & Young (“EY”) is a global leader in assurance, tax, transaction and advisory services. We aim to have a positive impact on businesses and markets, as well as on society as a whole.  EY is highly qualified to advise the National Telecommunications and Information Administration (NTIA) and Rural Utilities Service (RUS) with regard to certain requirements outlined in this Request for Information (RFI).  EY provides assurance services to clients worldwide representing 70% of the revenues in the Fortune 1000 global telecommunications sector.  In addition, EY provides advisory services to those and many other telecommunications clients, including developing a geographic model for a major European incumbent to schedule its broadband roll-out.  EY has also performed considerable compliance work in the telecommunications sector that has been filed with the Federal Communications Commission (“FCC”) including Cost Allocation Manual (“CAM”) audits and merger compliance engagements.

We understand that the scope of the broadband stimulus contemplated in the American Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 2009 poses unprecedented challenges for NTIA and RUS in terms of program administration, due diligence on applications, and post-award compliance monitoring.  EY is fully capable of advising and assisting NTIA and RUS in meeting these challenges through our business advisory, transaction advisory and assurance services. 

Our professionals have extensive experience serving both federal and commercial clients in the development and execution of complex, multiyear program management, due diligence and assurance processes. Additionally, as external auditors of several federal agencies, we also understand the accounting and legislative requirements that impact agency undertakings such as those contemplated in the stimulus program.

The table below highlights some of our federal clients for which we have provided financial transformation, compliance and/or auditing services:

Table 1: Sample EY federal clients

	Department of Agriculture
	Department of Treasury

	Department of Commerce
	Department of Veterans Affairs

	Department of Defense
	Federal Communications Commission

	Department of Education
	Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation

	Department of Health and Human Services
	Government Accountability Office

	Department of Homeland Security (DHS)
	National Aeronautics & Space Administration

	Department of Housing and Urban Development
	Overseas Private Investment Corporation

	Department of Justice
	US House of Representatives

	Department of Transportation
	US Postal Service


Subject matter expertise

As a Big Four public accounting firm, Ernst & Young provides accounting, auditing, transaction advisory and multidisciplinary business advisory services to the federal government and has the accounting subject matter knowledge to assist NTIA and RUS in the administrative, due diligence and compliance audit aspects of the broadband stimulus deployment. 
Program management support

Ernst & Young knows that complex processes such as deployment of the broadband stimulus funding require robust and rigorous program management practices to drive successful execution and sustainable change. We are currently providing program management support to other federal agencies. We know that the statutory mandate given to NTIA and RUS, including extremely aggressive timelines, is at risk unless efforts are coordinated as effectively and efficiently as possible. Ernst & Young also knows that understanding the interdependencies between the individual program goals and elements of undertakings such as the broadband stimulus programs is essential to the identification and management of the program’s critical path.  We work with our clients to identify those interdependencies by understanding the individual process inputs, outputs and timelines, resource requirements and other factors that could influence the ability to execute the plans. This also allows us to identify risks and issues that would otherwise go unnoticed, perform risk and issue analysis against the broader context of the program’s critical path, and create mitigation and resolution plans that address the specific problem without creating new challenges for other work streams. 
Optimizing timing and access technology selection for NGA roll-out requires a structured decision making process based on a fully quantified geographical analysis.  Ernst & Young has leading edge experience in providing advisory support for NGA roll-out and in developing a geographic model to optimize timing and technology decisions.  Our experience shows that an appropriately designed and quantified analysis incorporating bottom-up elements subject to top-down direction can maximize the value of NGA roll-out by:

· Incorporating input from various stakeholders into a holistic analysis

· Optimizing NGA roll-out to achieve the overall aims of the statutory mandate as a whole, rather than any individual interest group

· Empowering decision makers with the information necessary to make complicated strategic decisions
· Fully considering opportunity cost in light of time and financial constraints

· Allowing a structured assessment of alternate strategies and the subsequent impact on NGA goals

· Enabling the funding agencies to monitor and control roll-out by holding award recipients accountable for decision inputs and progress reporting

Due diligence
Ernst & Young is the only one of the Big Four public accounting firms to have classified transaction advisory services as one of our three core service offerings.  As such, EY is able to seamlessly coordinate financial, operational and commercial due diligence activities.   EY recognizes that NTIA and RUS will almost certainly face an overwhelming volume of funding applications, most of which will meet statutory criteria for consideration.  EY has the relevant experience to perform phased due diligence on these applications and provide findings and recommendations to NTIA and RUS as to the statutory and agency-defined criteria that are met by a given application, as well as significant financial, operational or commercial risks that we identify. 
We recognize that timely processing of these applications is of the essence, and have the necessary advisory resources with due diligence experience in the telecommunications sector to advise NTIA and RUS in their expeditious processing of applications.  EY has dedicated transaction resources in thirteen industry sectors, one of which is telecommunications.  Our recent transaction work in this area includes financial due diligence in industry sub-sectors directly relevant to the current program, such as:
· Rural local exchange carriers

· Rural wireless carriers

· WiMAX providers

· Distributed antenna system providers

· Fiber carriers
· Cable overbuilders

In addition, EY’s transaction advisory services practice incorporates professionals specializing in valuation and business modeling, commercial due diligence, operations and technology due diligence, and operating cost containment.
Compliance audit

As a leading public accounting firm, Ernst & Young has significant experience providing audit support services assistance to federal agencies. Based on our experience of performing one of the largest and most complex financial statement audits for the federal government as well as audits of thousands of public and private commercial clients, we understand the importance of having a well-defined audit coordination strategy and plan, as well as the challenges NTIA and RUS face in devising a comprehensive compliance monitoring process, communicating audit requirements to grant recipients, and determining appropriate corrective actions based on findings.  In addition, Ernst & Young knows that NTIA and RUS will need to compile the relevant data from award recipients and provide its own quarterly reporting. We have assisted many of our clients to integrate these parallel objectives by applying the same program management practices to audit coordination activities as we do to the process definition efforts.
EY serves 19 of the top 20 global telecommunications companies ranked by market capitalization, 9 as 
auditors and 10 as advisors.  In addition, EY has considerable directly relevant experience in federal telecommunications compliance work, including:

· Third party assurance services to Universal Services Administrative Corporation (“USAC”) to provide assurance that universal service funds have been used for the purposes that they were appropriated, (e.g. communications access at schools and libraries)
· Cost Allocation Manual audits filed with the FCC for Verizon, AT&T and their affiliates

· Merger compliance attestation engagements filed with the FCC for Verizon, AT&T and their affiliates

· Section 271 and other attestation engagements for a number of telecommunications carriers filed with the FCC
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� Wu, Tim, Where’s My Free Wi-Fi, Slate Magazine, September 2007; Lee, Dan, Power: Whiffing on Wi-Fi, Philadelphia Magazine, October 2008.


� Gaál, Papadias and Riedl, Citynet Amsterdam: an application of the market economy investor principle in the electronic communications sector, Competition Policy Newsletter, Number 1 – 2008; European Commission, State aid no. N 284/2005 – Ireland, Regional Broadband Programme: Metropolitan Area Networks (“MANs”), phases II and III, C(2006)436 final


� See Wu, Lee, above.  Cities where Wi-Fi deployment was cancelled, scaled back or repriced include Miami (scaled back), Philadelphia (project transferred to a new contractor), San Francisco (proposed but never deployed), Toronto (project put up for sale), Chicago (cancelled), Athens, GA (cancelled), Corpus Christi (scaled back and repriced); data sourced from wikipedia.org and Kloberdanz, Kristin, Whither Municipal Wi-Fi?, March 2008


� Kroes, Neelie, EU Competition Commissioner, March 2006


� Gaál, Papadias and Riedl.


� European Commission, State aid no. N 284/2005


� Gaál and Tosics, Public procurement and state aid control, the issue of economic advantage, Competition Policy Newsletter, Number 3 – 2007.


� Gaál, Papadias and Riedl.


� Gaál, Papadias and Riedl.


� The European Commission’s “Broadband for all” policy FAQ.


� The European Commission’s “Broadband for all” policy FAQ, March 2006.  Studies cited include (i) U.S. data indicating that “communities for which broadband has been available between 1998 and 2002 have experienced more rapid growth in employment (1%)”; (ii) German data suggesting that broadband deployment is expected to create 265,000 jobs; and (iii) a PricewaterhouseCoopers study indicating that broadband deployment yields a net present value that is 69% larger than costs.
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